MOHRA BACHI, A FORGOTTEN MASSACRE

Recently, while entering the High Court premises, the editor was approached by a shabbily dressed middle-aged person for help. He needed a stay order from the Court to prevent them from getting ejected from a govt. quarter at Surankote, a village in Poonch. The editor expressed his helplessness as matter pertains to Poonch. After some interaction, the editor learnt that this person namely Aslam, a driver, is the brother of Zahida Parveen, the lone survivor of Mohra Bachi massacre 1999. Mohra  Bachi is a village five km from Surankote. Few years ago, JKCCS after taking over the Sailan Massacre have been pleading the Sailan massacre survivors to approach Mohra Bachia survivor to follow the suit. The modus operindi and the perpetrators in Mohra Bachi are almost same as of Surankote massacre. In Mohra Bachi fifteen persons including six minors were exterminated on June 29-1999.
Despite repeated persuasion by the Sailan massacre survivors Zahida has not responded. Zahida, now, has approached JKCCS for its help, as she is likely to be evicted from the government quarters, provided to her by then government, in the aftermath of the massacre. 
Zahida Parveen veiled clad, in her 40s, had for the first time visited Srinagar. She is still apprehensive of getting eliminated by the perpetrators, as they know her being a sole witness could pose a threat to them. In JKCCS office, initially, she was nervous to face media arranged by the organization to highlight her case. It was only after her confidence was earned she finally shared her story before media with the objective that at least it would help her in not ejecting from the govt. quarters where she is living with her lone daughter and parents. Besides security reasons, her insistence to remain stay in the government quarters is her physically challenged body. On the fateful night of June 29, Zahida who survived miraculously, suffered grievous bullet injuries in her leg and arm that turned her handicapped. As many as six times she was operated upon by the doctors to nurse her wounds. She is unable to live in the hilly terrain, therefore, needs to stay in the plains. 
Mohra Bachia case is like Sailan massacre, however, JKCCS by its efforts got the Sailan massacre re-investigated by CBI after filing petition in the High Court, as police has closed the case as untraced.  The Mohra Bachi case is different in only one way that the lone survivor is struggling for her own survival. Though, the matter has been taken up before Poonch Court but only for relief and rehabilitation and not against the perpetrators. The situation that arose after the massacre took away Zahida’s zeal to live. It was her posthumously born daughter who motivates her to live her life. Being young at the time of the massacre Zahida chose not to marry. Her physical disability contributes to her hardships. Zahida do tailoring for her sustenance and also receives some support from her brother. 
The main impediment in taking up the human rights violations cases from Jammu divisions particularly in Poonch, Doda and Rajouri, where scores of massacre of both communities have been perpetrated, has never been agitated. There the survivors / victims are not getting any support from the human rights groups or civil society. The Muslims lawyers are hesitant to take up the human rights matter in order to avoid the ire from the fellow lawyers and right wing Hindu brigade and even from the state. 
The poor victims, bereft of any support, can’t afford lawyers who charge them exorbitantly. 
The victims have no faith in free legal aid committees constituted by the High Court. So all the cases are closed as untraced that too without issuing notice to informant, according to law. Not all the Jammu related cases can be transferred to the Srinagar Bench for adjudication, as one has to seek permission from Chief Justice (CJ) like in Sailan massacre case. Even in the Sailan matter the administrative order of the CJ was unsuccessfully challenged by the perpetrators.  The Mohra Bachi case is a challenge how to memorize this massacre and we need to make sure that it should not fade away.

MOHRA BACHI MASSACRE
16 YEARS GOES BY PERPETRATORS STILL AT LARGE  

The Informative Missive 	23	July 2015

On the night of June 29, 1999, fifteen persons including 6 minors were massacred at Mohra Bachi a village 5 km away from Surankote, Poonch in Jammu province jointly by SPOs, army and then Dy. SP, J.P. Singh. The victims belonged to a joint family living in a two storey house. Two of the killed were the guests. As the times passed by it was known that the massacre was planned in a meeting secretly held by J.P Singh, army intelligence sleuths and SPOs at Poonch in a house occupied by Special Task Force (STF). One of the SPOs, now dead, who unwittingly took part in the massacre, as atonement informed the lone survivor’s brother in a hospital about the meeting. It was also believed that one of the SPOs Yasir, who was the first to open the fire upon the families, killed the persons to avenge the killing of his mother, who was killed by a militant, related to family, for spying for army and STF.
Zahida Parveen, in her early 40, the only surviving eyewitness to the massacre, dressed in maroon Abaya with her face cloaked with only eyes visible reached the office of PCHR along with her elder brother Aslam, a driver. The zeal to fight for the trial of the perpetrators was put into her by Sailan Massacre 1998 survivors, who encouraged her to agitate the matter before the court. 
	While talking to The Informative Missive Zahida, who was married just a year before turned widow on the night of massacre, was earlier hesitant to talk freely about the incident, opens up only when her confidence was earned. She expressed having strong fears of getting killed by any of the state’s secret agencies, which do not want any expose of the massacre. Her fears are well-established, as she is the only eyewitness to the massacre. Since the massacre has taken place, Zahida apprehends she would be killed anytime, as the perpetrators knew she could cause discomfort to them for being the sole eyewitness to the episode. Zahida is living with her aged parents and a minor daughter Iqra, born posthumously 6 months after her father’s killing. 
Zahida identified the persons who were killed on that dreadful night as: Azam Khan his sons Nisar, 22, Yasir,13, Mushtaq, 24, and his daughter Shaheena, 14, Zahida’s brother Javaid, 13 (who had came there to see his sister) Motiya Begam wife of Akram Khan, Firdous and Ruksana daughters of Akram Khan, Ruksana’s minor children Rashid and Washid, Leyaqat, Ruksana and Hameeda both were pregnant and the third family members were identified as Hameeda daughter-in-law of Zama Khan, Mushtaq Azam Khan, Nahida d/o Mushtaq and Bashir Ahmad (a neighbor visited the house to stay over there for a night).     
Zahida stated that on the night of June 29, they all were sleeping in different rooms on the first floor comprised of 6 rooms. It was pitch dark outside. Around 11:00 pm there was a loud and terrifying knock at the main gate of the house.  Zahida’s husband Nisar went out to check. In a harsh Urdu tone he was told to open the door, as the persons outside were coming to search the house, as they have received serious complaint against the family. 
	Only three of them entered inside. All masked brandishing automatic weapons. They all were dressed in army fatigue. They immediately instructed the inmates to assemble in two different rooms and said “aap kay khilaf sikayat hai” (there is a complaint against the family) and “hum talashe kay leya aye hai” (we had come here to search the house). However, the Khalid’s family was lucky enough to escape the eyes of the perpetrators, who couldn’t even get closer to the room door. In the room Khalid son of Azam Khan, his wife Khalida, and two cousins Showkat and Chengez Khan were sleeping and none of them came out till the perpetrators left the spot. 
While the gunmen were searching here and there, Zahida said, she clearly heard an argument between the gunmen and Liyakat, her husband’s cousin. He was telling them (gunmen) they will not find anything incriminating from the house, to which they (gunmen) told him “you will come to know in a while”. The manner in which they had come only indicated that they had come only to kill all. All of a sudden, the gunmen opened barrels of their guns and fired indiscriminately towards the inmates. In the shoot-out Zahida was seriously injured. She got bullets in her right leg and right arm. The injuries she realized only when her wounds started giving her pain. 
	Zahida said they all died there and then. She has seen them falling on each other. She vividly remembers that her father-in-law felt on the floor prostrated. The raining of the bullets was such that Zahida was not able to hear the cries of her relatives even not a last call for water. Zahida even today feel the wetness of their blood. The whole room was drenched with blood. It was all bloody. All red.  
	If the gunmen had even a wild idea of Zahida’s survival then she had not left her to narrate the massacre. After the bullets sound followed the deafening silence, which was broken by a conversation between the gunmen. Zahida, who has pretended death, heard one of the gunmen addressing the other in fact reprimanding “Yasir what have you done” to which he responded “we are here only for that” and he repeats “only for that” and “what has happened was right.” 
The gunmen before leaving the spot threw gunpowder in and around the house to destroy even the bodies of the massacred. The injured Zahida, escaped miraculously from the burning house. She said on seeing the flames seemingly touching the sky, she prayed to Almighty to save her. Suddenly, in a miraculous way, she felt some spiritual power had lifted her out of the house. While Khalid (Zahida’s brother-in-law) his wife Khalida, and two cousins Showkat and Chengez Khan broke open the door and survived. All the dead got extensively roasted in the fire. There was no one there to help the family. 
	While the raid and killing was going on, the area was put under siege with massive deployment of army around it. The family later learned, the soldiers had come in a numbers, 11 were SPOs, 13 soldiers from 9 para and scores of soldiers from some other army unit. As per Zahida’s neighbours that night, they had seen 4-5 army soldiers deployed outside every house, which discouraged the people to move out. It was a meticulously planned massacre.    
	The bodies were piled at Surankote under a Chinar tree to protest the killings and for the entire day people were protesting against the massacre. The protests forced the concerned Deputy Commissioner, SP and DSP to arrive at the scene. The visiting officials persuaded the people to go back to their respective homes, as what has happened has happed. Later the bodies were buried in a mass grave at Surankote. 
Khalid registered FIR No 26/99 with Surankote police station; however, no enquiry has been conducted. The police was reluctant to name the agencies responsible for the massacre and conceal the identity of the perpetrators under the tag of unknown assailants.    
	Zahida believes the massacre connects with the beheading of Yasir’s mother who was killed by Imtiyaz, one of sons of Azam Khan, a militant. Yasir’s mother’s throat was slit by Imtiyaz for helping the state agencies in tracking the militants. The SOG has given her a wireless set to remain connected with them to inform the SOG about militant movement in the area. Her activities had put her on the hit list of the militants.   
	Aslam while recalling the incident and the situation arises after that said, he got a call from some of his friends that her sister in-laws were massacred and she was injured in the attack. One of the SPOs namely Gani met Aslam on his way to the site of incident informed him not to take any help from the army and make sure that Zahida will get treatment only in some civilian hospital, as she was the lone eyewitness to the crime. 
	Gani, an SPO, was Aslam’s childhood friend. Aslam while taking his sister to the hospital was stopped en-rout by the army at Potha Camp and offered free treatment to her. Even they had kept the stretcher ready. However, Aslam vehemently refused any help from them and moved on. 
	Few days after the massacre, Gani has informed Aslam to visit him in the hospital where he was under treatment for curing stomach cancer. While making his dying declaration, Gani identified Mushtaq Shah {then Hawaldar} Pa {a surrendered militant from Punjab}, one Chaudhary {of Army Intelligence} who had a meeting with then Dy. SP, JP Singh. In the meeting, Gani said, a meticulous plan was hatched how to carry the massacre. Gani had informed Aslam that if he had any idea of the “secret plan” earlier then he would definitely have not participated in the crime. He knows it only when killings were done.
Aslam said, SPO Yasir and Pa of Punjab were killed by the main perpetrators. Mushtaq Shah, then Hawaldar, who is the main part of the secret meeting is currently posted at Mendhar, Jammu and has been promoted.  
	For six months Zahida was hospitalised at Jammu and delivered a baby there. Her leg was operated upon six times during her stay in the hospital. An amount of seven lakh rupees were incurred on her treatment. The amount spent was pooled from general public, besides rupees one lack was sanctioned as ex gratia relief by the govt. The then govt. provides her accommodation in a government quarter, as she had no place to live. For past 15 years she is living there. 
She said, recently, a team comprising sub-district magistrate, SHO and the Naib Tehsildar of Surankote threw her things out of the quarter. They were pressurizing her to vacate the premises. Her further stay was ensured only when the locals intervened who prayed to the govt. officials to give her time to migrate to other place. July 19 (the end of month of Ramadhan) has been given as dead line to her failing which she would be thrown out forcefully.  
Zahida is wondering as to why only she was asked to vacate the premises, as there are four more families living in the quarter; however her family is the only asked to leave. The officials, according to her, have not even sent her any written order. They tell her it is the revenue department’s property so she has no choice but to vacate. 
Zahida is not in a position whatsoever either to rent out a house or build a new one as she is earning only pittance out of tailoring clothes. 



SALMAAN’S TRIALS AND TRIBULATION 

Salmaan Yousuf, a torture survivor, hails from volatile Bandipora district of north Kashmir about 65 km from Srinagar summer capital of J&K. He spends most of his life wondering place to place to evade state forces harassments. Salmaan was perusing his secondary school education when he joined Jamaat-e-Islamia (JEI), a religio-political organization, in 1987. Later, after the outbreak of armed conflict, JEI entrusted Salmaan with the responsibility of data collection on human rights violations, which were galore in 90s. He worked enthusiastically with Institute of Kashmir Studies (IKS) a wing of JEI. IKS, to which Salmaan associated himself in 1993, was an institute found to document human rights violation cases across Jammu and Kashmir. He also lectured public gatherings about the importance of Kashmir resistance movement and human rights. His activities invited state agencies attentions towards him and he comes under state vigilance. 
Salmaan Yousuf took through The Informative Missive the torture he has faced at the hands of STF and harassments he has gone through for working on political and human rights issues. He reiterates that he never associated himself with militancy, a charge used by the forces to detain and torture him. While detailing his ill-treatment he was vocal enough and at many occasion lost coherence of the incidents. But sharp enough he remembers all the details of his torture and the name of the perpetrators.      
Salmaan helped the IKS in documenting as many as 42 human rights dossiers documenting all sorts of human rights violation cases ranging from harassment to killings. Despite pressures and pulls from the government and its agencies, IKS succeeded in publishing 73,000 human rights dossiers, which JEI later destroy itself.
Salmaan Yousuf’s story goes: In 1994, annoyed by Salmaan’s political activities Ikhwanis started harassing him. His house was frequently raided and ransacked. During a raid Ikhwanis destroyed his house by setting it on fire in which his books, Salmaan described priceless, were also got destroyed. His sister and his wife were trapped in the house who escaped miraculously from a window of first floor. The women spend the whole night at a cow shed. The jumping forced Salmaan’s wife to abort the child and she had to undergo an emergency operation at Rainawari hospital at Srinagar. The continuous raids and harassments compelled Salmaan’s father to evict him from the house and since then he lives a nomadic life.  
	First he moved to Kangan, Ganderbal district. However, his migration didn’t help him and his rented accommodation was raided by 13 RR soldiers led by its officer Gager Sahab. Lucky enough, he was not at home. From Kangan he moved to Haiderpora, Srinagar. Even there he doesn’t have any respite. Major Saleem Khan and his contingent stationed at Argam Camp, Budgam raided his new rented house to catch him. During that raid one of his friends from Bandipora was with army to help them to locate and identify Salmaan. Sensing more raids Salmaan had already changed his location to another place called Galwan Pora in Hyderpora. As many as 40 raids were conducted to arrest him but he was not arrested. All the raids came in the backdrop of his political activities and human rights work he has done for IKS.
	The cat and mouse play didn’t last for long and he was arrested by a joint posse of CRPF and STF from his rented residence at Soura located on the peripheries of Srinagar. On May 1, 1998, at around 11 pm Salmaan was sleeping in his room while his other family members were watching TV when the forces laid a siege around Soura area. The forces locked as many as 100 houses in Malik Sahab area of Soura. 
The STF raiding party was led by then SP Manohar Singh, now IGP traffic J.P Singh (then inspector), accused in massacre at Sailan, and Divinder Singh. The forces barged into every house which they had locked. Then SHO Soura, Rashid Billa (accused in infamous Soura triple murder case) was also part of the raiding party. On spotting Salmaan, Billa punched his chest and threatened him of dire consequences. The siege was solely conducted to catch Salmaan. Manohar Singh enquired from him “are you Salmaan who works on human rights” to which Salmaan responded in affirmative by saying “Yes I am Salmaan who works on human rights and associated with IKS”. By reading their name plates Salmaan was able to identify the officers under whose supervision the raid was conducted. 
	The idea of the raid was to implicate Salmaan in false militancy case. They accused him of allowing his rented accommodation to be used by militants and asked him to name all those militants who he had helped. While rejecting the allegation leveled against him, Salman politely told them he has never associated himself with militancy whatsoever and was purely working on human rights with IKS. He even asked them to contact then JEI Chairman, Ghulam Mohammad Bhat, a known figure, to verify their allegations. On this Manohar Singh accused him of ISI agent who operates under the garb of IKS member. Salmaan even explained to them the full functioning of IKS as a research and academic institute, however, nothing worked in his favour. 
Then Manohar Singh ordered his men to shoot him as they shot one S. Hameed [Chairman of Jammu and Kashmir Peoples league].  They (STF personnel) dragged him and his brother-in-law, Manzoor Khan out of the house. Both were pushed into a vehicle. Salmaan accused the STF has beaten his four-month-old baby Farzan in which his arm suffered fracture.  
	The arrestees were taken to Cargo, Srinagar, infamous torture center, at Srinagar. Salman was put in 3*4 dark cell. His brother-in-law was kept in separate cell and on the next day they took him early in the morning to Humhama STF camp. In the cell Salman has no idea what part of the day or night he was living in, it was the birds churning which penetrates through the tough walls of the cell by which he realized the breaking of the dawn. 
	In Humhama camp, he was hanged by his hands tied backside and for 45minutes he was kept hanging. His requests to bring him down did only go to the deaf ears. Repeatedly, he unsuccessfully tried to convince them that he was never associated with the ongoing militancy nor he helped any militant in his entire life. Then he was made to sleep on a “death” bench and a cloth was tied around his mouth and chilly-powder was rubbed on his face. As many as 18 STF personnel trampled him under their feet after placing a wooden log on his legs. Manohar Singh and Devinder Singh were supervising his torture. The live electric wires were connected to his toes and shoulders and repeated shocks were given to him. The tortured continued for 16 consecutive hours. 
Salman Yousuf described the STF torture centers worst than notorious Guantanamo Bay. He was kept naked in a cell for 7 days with regular torture to him that last for 10 days. An Iron rod was pressed into his thighs. Another iron rod of the size of a needle was put into his private part.  His body was also burnt by “blue lamp” (stove).  
Once during his detention Salman was kept in a water tub, his legs were stretched to the extent of 180 degree and electric wires were put in to electrocute him. Devinder Singh and Rani, another notorious official, were there in the cell. To draw the sadistic pleasure, Devinder demonstrated to Rani how good he was in torturing Salmaan in his custody. 
Even the intervention from visiting activists like Rajender Sachar, Balraj Puri, Justice Tarkundai, who read in newspapers about Salmaan arrest by STF, could not secure his release. The trio visited the torture centre to see Salman Yousuf and according to news reports Manohar Singh lied to the visiting team that “Salman was on raid with STF and was not there”.  However, the fact was he was very much there in the cell. 
	The chairman IKS approached National Human Rights Commission (NHRC) of India to press for Salmaan’s release. The representation pays off Salmaan was released after 28 days on the condition that he will withdraw the case from NHRC. Manohar Singh before releasing him took his signatures on a blank paper. On time of his release he was not able to stand on his legs.  
	When the harassments were going on, at one occasion in September 1997, Ikhwanis commanders like Javaid Shah, Usman Majid, Shabir Sofi [Mond Kath], Rashid Sofi [both nephews of Kuka Parry Ikhwan Chief], Sattar Sofi alias Bala,  Ashraf Beigh alias Broiler, Kaka Malla, Shafiq Pandith, Ghulam Nabi Mir Niyazi and Bashir Sheikh of Nadihal working uder the leadership of Kuka Parray banned Salman Yousuf, Abdul Gani Sofi, Abdul Rashid Sofi and  Muhammad Maqbool Sofi from harvesting their crop. To lift the illegal ban Salmaan wrote to Indian Home Ministry apprising it of the harassment and the ban. In response the Home Ministry communicated a notice to army headquarters 15 Corpse directing it to allow Salmaan and others to harvest their crop. Army’s 13 RR camped at village Brar itself harvest these crops. As many as 40 kannals of land were harvested by the army. The yielded crops were later given to its respective owners.  
In March 2004, he was picked up by SOG stationed at Soura and a case was filed against him U/S 107,154 RPC. He was detained at Baba Atomic Research centre, Nigeen, Srinagar and was released after 30 days.
Again he was arrested in June 2004 by CRPF 164 bn outside Tatoo Ground, an army installation, at Bemina, Srinagar. CRPF took him blindfolded to some unknown destination where he was kept for four days. He was accused of working with Ali Shah Geelani’s “militant group”. Salmaan claimed he was arrested on a tip off given to CRPF by then JEI Ameer-e-Zila, Srinagar Muzaffar Ahmad Rangrez alias Muzaffar Jaan, who has secret connection with the CRPF. Salmaan also blamed Muzaffar Ahmad for being instrumental in destroying the Jamaat treasure of documentation.   
 	The repeated arrest, torture and harassments by forces turned even his family hostile towards Salmaan who were pressurizing him to leave the organization and start some work to run his family. However, Salmaan still living a nomadic life decided against the family pressure and continuous working as a researcher. 

RECALLING TORTURE SHIVERS ARSHID

Arshid Husain Mir, 40, son of Bashir Ahmad Mir of Gagren, Shopian in south Kashmir was tortured by army and Special Task Forces (STF). Even today he is clueless as to why he was detained illegally and tortured for weeks. Over a decade has gone by since he was tortured but the terror he faced during his detention refused to escape his memory.  His physical wounds got nursed; however, his mental health deteriorates.  Even recalling of it shivers him. 
During an interview with The Informative Missive at his house, he feels recalling the torture is not less than recurrence of it. “To keep my mental health conditions okay it is better not to recall it. Years have passed by it seems I have just came out of the torture chamber,” Arshid said.   
Arshid never associated himself with any political or militant outfit overtly or covertly. A shopkeeper by profession, Arshid was arrested and tortured by STF and Army. 
Arshid said, in September 2002 he was arrested from his house by the army from Chowgam Camp. He was dragged out of his house, bundled into army vehicle which drove straight to the camp.  “Soon I was taken into the camp torture was applied on me. I was put on a wooden pole lying in the camp ground. Clothes were removed from my body, hands and legs were fastened with a nylon rope. Six soldiers in one go beat me with wooden rods, 2 to 3 inches in size, and gun-butts. This mode of torture continued for an hour”. 
Then he was taken to a tent where he was tortured by a different set of soldiers. “In the tent I found different soldiers, who on my entrance were gazing at me with hostile eyes as they were precisely waiting for me. They penetrated a needle, connected with a battery emitting electric currents, deep into my thumb and pour water all over my body to effect the current all over my body.  With every current my body shakes and my conscious lost. “
Arshid further said, soon he regained his conscious back he was shaken with currents again and again. Then his legs were stretched to 180 degree and he was beaten with wires and military belts. He remained in the camp for twelve days facing torture daily. 
Thereafter, he was taken to Badami Bagh camp Srinagar for a day, where army tortured him in an open ground. He stated, “In the camp I was tortured by the soldiers in open ground. The mode of torture was different there. I was beaten there with iron rods with my hands and legs cuffed with a rope then a roller was rolled over my legs”.
Next day he was shifted to Gagran STF Camp, Shopian for more torture. “In Gagran, I was beaten with iron rods; they put me in a ditch, 5-6 feet deep, and beat me on my head and neck with gun butts and wooden rods for hours.” 
He said no reason was given to him for detention and torture. “Whenever, I asked for the reasons of my arrest and inhuman treatment I was subjected to, they intensify the torture. I was kept there for twenty days. My release was possible only when I paid them a huge amount as ransom. Those horrible days gave me sleepless night for months together. Even today recalling of that treatment shivers me,” Arshid concluded. 

UN MEMBER STATES MUST NOT RECOMMEND INDIA FOR A PERMANENT SEAT IN UN SECURITY COUNCIL FOR ITS HUMAN RIGHTS RECORD IN JAMMU AND KASHMIR: APDP

July 30: During this month sit-in Association of Parents of Disappeared Persons (APDP) urged the UN Member States not to support Indian state for a permanent seat India it is seeking for a long, as the state is involved in serious human rights violations including disappearance in J&K. Years have gone by the India government is yet to address the long pending demand of the APDP to reveal the fate of the thousands of disappeared persons. During the sit-in the association released a detailed press statement, the complete text follows:
The present Indian Prime Minister as well as the former continues to thrust for a permanent seat in United Nations Security Council, during their addresses at the various International foras including in their repeated discourse to the United Nations General Assembly. The Government of India over and over again discusses its eligibility for a permanent seat in the UNSC and seeks support from other member states.
Association of Parents of Disappeared Persons [APDP] stands and will always stand against the India states claim for the permanent seat at the United Nations Security Council for its record of human rights violations in the conflict ridden Jammu and Kashmir. Indian States record comprises enforced disappearance of more than 8000 people, existence of 7000+ unknown, unmarked and mass graves, extrajudicial killings, torture, sexual assault and numerous other human rights violations. Moreover, despite reiterated demand of APDP, the Indian State never allowed the United Nations Special Rapporteur on enforced or involuntary disappearances to visit Jammu and Kashmir, and did not ratify the Convention against Enforced Disappearances.
The Indian States record also includes a State Human Rights Commission’s [SHRC] verdict of October 2011 that recognized the phenomenon of unknown, unmarked and mass graves. The commission after enquiry passed a judgment and made various recommendations, including comprehensive Forensic Examination of the remains interred in the graves along with DNA the (Deoxyribose Nucleic Acid) testing. Further, the SHRC recommended for setting up of an independent body to enquire into the issue of unknown, unmarked and mass graves. Contrastingly, none of the recommendations have been implemented by the government and no investigation has been initiated so far.
APDP underscores that Indian State has no moral right to claim any credibility internationally. The Indian States record in Jammu and Kashmir must not be rewarded. On the contrary, international pressure and condemnation must be immediately brought to bear on a State that has no regard for the rule of law, or human life in Jammu and Kashmir.
	The member states of the UN must be guided in their relations with the Indian State by a sense of responsibility and sensitivity to the realities of the people of Jammu and Kashmir. The international community cannot escape their responsibility to the victims of human rights violations in Jammu and Kashmir.
APDP calls on the Member states of UN, before recommending India for a Permanent Seat in the Security Council, they must question, and exert pressure, upon the Indian State to uphold the internationally recognized human rights principles and standards. As the struggle for truth, justice, dignity and honor continues, the international community must be aware that their actions today form a part of the historical record and there will be accountability.
As part of persistent campaign APDP today amassed to question such an entitlement to a country like India that has worst human rights record and sponsors impunity and injustice to victims without any accountability.
Moreover, today on the 10th Anniversary of the disappearance of the husband of Amina Masood Janjua, a prominent human rights activist of Pakistan, who has been struggling to trace the whereabouts of hundreds of people including her husband, who disappeared in Pakistan, APDP calls on government of Pakistan that the whereabouts of Masood Janjua be divulged out like the more than 650 other missing persons who either have been released or surfaced in the last ten years through the struggle of Defence for Human Rights (DHR) led by Amina Masood. DHR has so far documented more than 2150 cases of enforced disappearances in Pakistan.

HOW I WAS DEPORTED FROM INDIA: AI RESEARCHER 
Christine Mehta recalls how she was forced to leave India ostensibly for her scathing report on the draconian AFSPA in Jammu and Kashmir

On Friday, November 8, 2014, as I was leaving my house in Bengaluru with a friend, three police officers approached us. I knew why they were there. The night before, I had received a mysterious phone call from the Foreigner Regional Registration Office (FRRO) in Bengaluru. The woman official on the phone told me to report to the FRRO the next day, a holiday. I sought reasons. She refused, insisting instead that I report to the FRRO urgently. An American citizen of Indian origin, I had been living in Bengaluru for about three years, working on a valid visa as a researcher for Amnesty International India (AII). I told her that I would consult with my employer and revert to the FRRO on Monday.
The police officers who had come for me wanted me to go with them to a police station. When I asked for a reason they said it was “confidential”. “You need to come with us, and then we will escort you,” one of them said. I was told that a complaint had been filed against me by the FRRO, and that the officer was required to escort me to the office. He claimed he didn’t know the reasons for the complaint or its contents.
I refused to go with him. I told him I was not legally obligated to accompany him to a police station or to the FRRO without a legitimate reason or an arrest warrant. Frustrated, one of the officers called and spoke to someone rapidly in Kannada for a few minutes. He then handed over his phone to me. The man on the other end of the line repeated what the officer had told me. “Madam, you are required to come to the police station,” he said. “Then the police will escort you to the FRRO.” I again insisted on being given a reason. I mentioned to him my phone conversation with the FRRO official the previous night. “I will look into the matter and seek an appointment with you on Monday,” I said. It seemed to mollify him. The police officers left.
A little later, I received a call from Shashikumar Velath, the deputy director of AII. He claimed to have spoken to his sources at the Ministry of Home Affairs (MHA) and told me that the FRRO officials would present me with a list of ‘visa violations’. He advised me to prepare myself against intimidation. “Tell them you’ve been doing research in Jammu and Kashmir in a transparent manner for the past two years. They may even present you with a notice telling you to leave India,” he said. “Don’t worry, my sources tell me it’s just for show.”
I had been working as a researcher and campaigner for AII in Bengaluru since 2012. I had obtained a Person of Indian Origin (PIO) card so that AII would be able to hire me without the complications associated with business and employment visas.
At the time, I was unaware of any restrictions on working as a PIO. I was allowed to work and live in India without a visa for 15 years. As of September 30, 2014, the Overseas Citizen of India (OCI) card — an identical immigration card — and the PIO card were merged. Both cards grant any person whose parents or grandparents emigrated from India permission to live and work in India without a visa for life. India’s progressive visa policy makes living and working in India easy for most second and third generation Indians living abroad, except for those working in environmental and human rights.
Work on AFSPA
In 2014, I was on the cusp of publishing a report on the abuses committed under the controversial Armed Forces Special Powers Act in Jammu and Kashmir. Despite the need for reform amongst the ranks, the Indian government remains extremely sensitive to the image of its Army and other security forces. The state terms anyone who raises questions about the conduct of the security forces as “anti-national”.
There had been signs of official unease with my work in Jammu and Kashmir. In early 2013, an officer from the MHA had visited our office after I returned from a trip to the State. He claimed that he needed to conduct a background check because a Pakistani journalist with suspected ties to terrorist groups had listed me as a reference while applying for an Indian visa. I had not been in touch with any Pakistani journalist.
When he discovered that I was a PIO, and that my grandfather had migrated from India to the U.S., he stopped questioning me. He advised me to be wary of what Kashmiris tell me as they “have a special interest” in tarnishing India’s image.
In October 2014, Ananth Guruswamy, then the chief executive of AII, told me that the government had informed him that it would no longer tolerate my research in Jammu and Kashmir. The conversation sparked a discussion about my future in the organisation.
Notice to leave
This brings us back to the Monday when I had an appointment with the FRRO. Mohan Mundkar, the Director of Operations at AII, accompanied me to the headquarters. I was summoned into a room, but Mr. Mundkar was not allowed inside. Three officers waited for me; they did not give me their names or ranks. A young woman officer asked to see my OCI card; I gave it to her. A second officer, a man, handed me a paper titled “Leave India Notice”, which ordered me to leave India immediately. I looked for a reason in the notice, but there was none. Neither was there an option to appeal.
As I had done before, I asked the officials for a reason. They said they didn’t know; they had only been following instructions. “You need to leave in 24 hours if possible,” one officer said. “The sooner you leave the better. There must have been some mix-up with your paperwork. I’m sure you can sort it out in the U.S.”
“There had been signs of official unease with my work on AFSPA in Jammu and Kashmir. An MHA official claimed that he had to do a background check on me, as a journalist with suspected ties to terrorist groups had listed me as a reference while applying for an Indian visa”
I was panic-stricken, but I smiled. “I have been living here for four years. I have my work, home, and friends here. And OCI is a lifetime status,” I said. “I can’t leave in 24 hours.” He replied sympathetically but firmly: “There is nothing we can do. Maybe we can give you a few days?”
Before I left, I asked the woman officer for my OCI card, but she refused to give it to me saying it was “cancelled”. She added: “I have to keep this. You are no longer an OCI. You have to leave quickly as you have no legal status to stay here.”
On my way back, I realised that the chance that I might be deported because of my research was likelier than ever before. Later in the afternoon, Mr. Velath called again. “You should prepare to leave in the time you’ve bargained for: ten days. That’s our plan A,” he told me. “We thought they would give you a reprieve, but that looks unlikely. They want to make an example of you.”
Although no official reasons for my deportation were provided, I could take a guess. In February 2012, when Amnesty International decided to move me to a research position, we discovered a restrictive clause listed on India’s Bureau of Immigration website stating that OCI and PIO were prohibited from conducting “research, missionary or mountaineering activities without the prior permission of the Government of India.” As I was being hired to research abuse of power and human rights in Jammu and Kashmir, there was a debate about the consequences I might face, including deportation and loss of my overseas citizenship status.
There are hundreds of PIO and OCI cardholders who have been working as journalists, development workers, and researchers in India without any problems. The provision seemed outdated. The AII management was confident that the United Progressive Alliance government wouldn’t use the little-known and apparently rarely used provision against me. It decided that attempting to apply for permission would only draw unnecessary attention to my work, and invite the government to deny permission outright.
I was 23 then and had graduated in journalism from a university in New York. I had reported a little on human rights issues in Latin America. Being hired as a researcher for Amnesty International was an exciting opportunity. I didn’t ask too many questions when I was hired.
“India’s progressive visa policy makes living and working in the country easy for most second and third generation Indians living abroad, except for those working in environmental and human rights”
After my deportation, I discovered that the restriction on research is also encompassed in the separate research visa issued by the Indian government for researchers and scholars conducting research projects in India. According to the research visa requirements, even OCI and PIO cardholders are required to request permission under the research visa guidelines, and can be issued permission to conduct research for up to three years with a possibility for extension. If the researchers’ sponsoring organisation is a non-governmental one, then it has to undergo a background check from the MHA. However, these specifics are not listed anywhere in the PIO or OCI guidelines; only under the research visa guidelines. Thus, few PIO or OCI cardholders working for NGOs go through the process to obtain permission, and the government seems to have never before revoked an OCI status or deported anyone as a penalty.
	The U.S. Consulate in Chennai told me that given the historical precedence, it is highly unlikely that I will be able to return to India in the near future.

AN OBSCURE CORNER OF HORROR: A REMOTE VILLAGE IN BUDGAM RECOUNTS PAST REPRESSION AND CONTINUING LACK OF JUSTICE

July 08: The village of Sitaharan, 36 km from district headquarters Budgam, is nestled in thick forests overlooked by the infamous Tosamaidan, and flanked from three sides by army camps — each approximately at a distance of under 15 km. It is also known in the area as “mini Afghanistan” owing to the “toughness” of its people and the violent times they have seen. The village is the last outpost of human habitation on the northern side of Budgam district; the terrain is difficult and even now just the occasional mini bus travels to the village from adjoining Khag township some 12 km away.
This is also a village of relatively unknown horrors: during the last 25 years of conflict in Kashmir, the village has seen an “unbearable” amount of army repression. The villagers, in fact, say that almost everyone was tortured at some point during the last 25 years.
“Our plight is still unknown to world. As you can see this is almost a jungle and rarely anybody except the army comes here” says sarpanch Adil Ahmed Sheikh, 56. Adil has been tortured several times. “The torture was such a daily feature of our lives that we have forgotten the number of times we were tortured,” he adds.
 	The villagers vividly remember the ’90s and are full of stories of collective torture and brutal harassment at the hands of the army.
 	One name that recurrently comes up is of one Major Bhim Singh of 34 RR, of the nearby Beerwah Camp, who was posted in the area from the middle ’90s to early 2000. “Major Bhim Singh was a sort of de facto ruler of the army in the whole area. And he was terrible with us,” says Mohammad Jabbar Khan, 65, a resident.
According to the villagers, the army from the nearby camps, Drang and Raiyar, and Beerwah, which are at a distance of 7 km, 10 km, and 14 km respectively, would also come to the village and start beating whoever came in their way. “They accused us of hiding militants and providing shelter to them,” says Adil Sheikh.
 	One winter night in 1996, remembers Bashir Ahmed, resident of the village, soldiers from 34 RR from the Beerwah camp took away several men for interrogation. “There were around 30 of us, and they gave electric shocks to us. After that, many men never married,” he says. “I was hit on the head and I still get migraines from time to time, and I still feel like a current is passing through my body,” he adds. Bashir also says that some of the men were tortured so severely that they became disabled: “Around a dozen men never married after that. The army crushed their testicles and inserted copper wires in their private organs.”
Fayaz Ahmed (not his real name) is one of the victims of that torture who suffers from permanent impotency. He has a frail physique and limps while he walks. He accuses Bhim Singh of the torture: “He was not a human being, he was an animal. He passed electric current through my private parts and after that let me go.” Zahoor Ahmed Malik, 40, was forced to drink urine when he was taken to the torture centre. “The things the army did here are beyond human comprehension,” he says. Satar Khan , 67, whose arm was broken during torture says the men used to flee to the forests in order to save themselves from the army and some also went to Poonch district to work as daily labourers, ponywallas et al.
 	The women were also not spared. Adil Ahmed Sheikh says that while the men used to flee to adjacent villages and towards the jungle, the army would barge into homes and torture the women. Some were also molested, he says. “The army tortured our mothers, sisters and daughters like animals. Many women were raped, but they buried those things in their souls and never talked about it openly,” says Ghulam Rasool Sheikh, a resident.
 	In August 1999, Farida Begum, 39, was tortured by personnel the Beerwah army camp and rendered disabled forever. “My left arm is disabled. It was twisted by the army and broken at the elbow,” she says. According to her, in late August 1999, three months after her husband died due to torture injuries, a dozen men in plainclothes barged into her house. “I was sleeping with my 14 year-old daughter when the men entered and dragged me out of my bed. Their eyes were bloodshot and they abused me and asked for the whereabouts of militants from the village,” she says. She recounts how the men pushed her aside and began to search, smashing window panes and utensils. “While they were busy searching my home, I, fearing rape, tied my pyjamas with seven knots,” she adds.
Finding no weapons or militants in the house, the men dragged her out. “Outside, around 30 army men flanked me and a Major Singh kicked me on the chest and I fell to the ground,” she says. Then the men yanked her by the hair and dragged her to the outskirts of the village. “The major twisted my arm and it broke. Then they tied my arms behind my back and blindfolded me and tore off my clothes,” she says, weeping. “They then threw me to the ground and two soldiers sat on my legs and another forced a bottle of kerosene into my mouth. During all this, she says, the army men kept asking her to show them the militants and their weapons. “I told them that I knew nothing, the only weapons I had are the tools used for wood cutting and agriculture,” she says.
 Farida says that after torturing her for hours, the army then poured a bucket of water mixed with chillies on her face. “It was like fire. I felt as if my body was set on fire,” she recounts. Later, she was thrown into a stream. “Fortunately, the stream was not too shallow and I crawled out and walked in the dark and fell unconscious.” Next morning, the villagers discovered her unconscious and took her to the nearby Khag hospital where she was treated.
 	The family filed an FIR against the Beerwah Camp. “Nothing has happened to the case and I am too helpless to pursue it. I put my faith in Allah and ask only Him for justice” Farida says. She adds she wants to forget about that day, but the pain her body still feels does not allow her to. “I get migraines and I can’t sleep properly. My body is always in pain” she says.
 	In June 1997, Zooni Begum, a frail 45 year old woman had gone to the nearby jungle to collect wood. Suddenly, her 13 year old daughter came running and told her that the army has come. The army men, who were from the Drang camp, caught hold of her and began to beat her up. “They were saying I give food to the militants and that I have weapons at my home. I denied that and they began to slap me and beat me with gun butts,” she says. In broad daylight, the army dragged her from the jungle toward s her village. They took her to her home and tied her up in a room: “They yanked my hair and tied me with a rope. Then they beat me badly.”
The army cordoned off the whole village, and, in her home, Zooni says, the army men tore off her clothes. “Dastgeer Sahab saved my honour. I was praying to God to give me death but not let the animals dishonour me,” she says. At noon, the crackdown was lifted and a semiconscious Zooni was thrown out of her house. “After they threw me out, they set my house on fire. They said it is punishment for not ‘cooperating’ with the army,” she adds. There was no justice later nor any compensation for her burnt house. She too has not pursued the case out of fear. “When I see an army man, my heart beats fast and sweat breaks out on every part of my body,” she says.
 	No FIR has been filed against these incidents and the villagers give two reasons for that. One, that they were “assured” by the then-Congress MLA Sarfaraz Ahmed Khan that he “will handle the issue himself” and that the villagers “need not worry”. “We waited for his advice but in the end he never did anything,” says Fareeda.
 	The second reason, they say, was that there “was no difference between the police and army”.
“We had nowhere to go and the police used to threaten us instead, and never came to our help or filed an FIR against the army,” the villagers say. “Those were dark times and we are simple people, we were concerned about our lives and never went to police stations after recurrent refusals and threats. There were even some policemen who were working for the army and they used to tell them everything about our visits to police stations,” they added.

RAJOURI COMMUNAL FIRE DOUSES AFTER TWO COMMUNITIES MEET
MUSLIMS ENRAGED OVER BURNING OF KALIMA-INSCRIBED ON FLAGS

 On July 21, Curfew was imposed in Rajouri town following a strike and protests by Muslims over the burning of Islamic State flags that are inscribed with kalima, the Islamic declaration of faith.
	Activists of militant Hindu organisation Vishwa Hindu Parishad (VHP) who, Muslims believe, are backed by the state, burnt the flags a couple of days ago in Rajouri town.
While dissociating themselves from the ideology of the ISIS and condemning its activities, Rajouri Muslims were enraged over the burning of the flags because the Kalima, basic symbol of their faith is inscribed on these flags. 
Muslims had demanded the arrest of VHP and RSS activists. All shops and offices in Rajouri town and other major parts of the district remained closed. Despite rains, scores of people assembled at various places in the district and demonstrated against the Hindu radicals who they said were trying to foment communal violence in the area.
The protesters shouted pro-Islam and anti-VHP, anti-RSS slogans and burnt tyres on the roads.
	“We will not tolerate the attack on our religion. We will intensify protests if the government doesn’t act against the trouble mongers,” the protesters said.
	To prevent the situation from going out of control, as there are strong communal undercurrents in Jammu districts, the government imposed section 11 of CrPC, which bans assembly of four or more persons. 
While rejecting the Muslims demand of arresting VHP activists the deputy Chief Minister told media that burning of the “symbol of terrorist and anti-national elements is a nationalistic act”. At the same time, he called both communities to “observe calm”.
Singh said there is no reason to arrest them (VHP activists).
On July 23, normalcy was partially restored in Rajouri district after relaxation in the curfew following series of meetings between the leaders of two communities with CAPD Minister Choudhary Zulfikar Ali and top police and civil officials.
After fruitful talks between leaders of the communities and administration, the curfew was relaxed from 4:30 pm to 6 pm in Rajouri. 
They said representatives of Muslims and Hindus agreed during the meeting to end the crises. “The Muslim representatives were assured that the Muslim youth arrested on charges of stone pelting would be released and cases against them withdrawn”.

PONY WALA ‘THRASHED’ BY CRPF, LANDS IN HOSPITAL
HE FAILED TO UNDERSTAND YATRIS’ LANGUAGE, PARAMILITARY MEN POUNCED ON HIM: EYEWITNESSES

July 16: The Pony Walla Association and Tent Owners here have demanded stringent action against the paramilitary CRPF men for severely beating up a pony walla which lead to grievous injuries to him. They have also threatened to call off their services to Amarnath pilgrims in case of any further harassment. The family members of the pony walla have sought registration of FIR while National Conference (NC) leader and MLA Pahalgam has threatened of sit-in at Sheshnag if case is not registered against the CRPF men. Fareed Ahmad Khatana (22) S/O Ghulam Ahmad Khatana of Sheikh Pora village of Sallar, Pahalgam, was allegedly ruthlessly beaten up by CRPF men at Sheshnag transit point on Wednesday. Khatana has sustained grievous head injuries and is undergoing treatment at Army’s base camp hospital in Badamibagh Srinagar where from he was discharged only today. Eyewitnesses and pony wallas alleged that Khatana was thrashed and hit with gun butts after he failed to understand and communicate to his customer for they were speaking in Bengali. “The Yatris who were from West Bengal asked the CRPF men posted there to intervene and before the Pony walla could explain they pounced on him and thrashed him mercilessly,” they said. “He was hit several times on head with the gun butts.” Khatana, eyewitnesses said, fell unconscious as blood oozed from his head and nose. “Though we pleaded to Shri Amarnath Shrine Board (SASB) authorities to airlift Khatana to hospital but they did not pay any heed to our pleas and he was lying there unconscious for several hours,” the pony wallas alleged. They said that after they lodged strong protests the authorities were forced to air lift him to SMHS hospital Srinagar where from he was shifted to Army hospital Srinagar. The Pahalgam Pony Walla Association has demanded stern action the guilty CRPF men. “It is not for the first time that the poor pony wallas or tent owners have faced the wrath of CRPF men. Such incidents happen frequently during Yatra period,” said Ghulam Nabi Lone, President Pahalgam Pony Wallas Association. He said the CRPF men should be booked and the particular CRPF battalion shifted from the area. “We have always welcomed Yatris and provided them every kind of assistance but if such incidents happen again, we will be left with no choice than to stop our pony services to Yatris.” The tent owners, who erect tents at various transit points en-route Pahalgam, have also condemned the act and asked for stringent punishment against the CRPF men. “We have also been very hospitable to our Yatri brothers and sisters but that never means we will compromise our self respect,” said Mushtaq Magray, President Tent Owners Association Pahalgam. “The behaviour of forces towards pony wallas, tent owners and other common Kashmiri has not been good.” He said that if government fails to provide sense of security to them and fails to stop such incidents in future they will call off their services. “We will prefer to do other labor work than to tolerate this inhuman treatment,” Magray said. The family members of Khatana have also demanded action against the CRPF men. “An FIR should be registered against the CRPF men for causing life threatening injuries to Fareed,” they said. MLA Pahalgam, Altaf Ahmad Wani, has threatened of organizing a dharna at Sheshnag, en-route the cave shrine, if government does not initiate action against the guilty CRPF men. “I have talked to top police officials and they have already assured me of registration of FIR against the accused CRPF men. However, in case it is not filed, I will hold a sit in at Sheshnag along with the pony and tent wallas.” Station House Officer Pahalgam, Showkat Bukhari, however, refuted the allegations of the eyewitnesses and family saying the pony walla was injured in a minor stampede. “The pony walla had a fall due to which he received minor injury but later he tried to put the blame on CRPF men,” said the SHO. 

TWO MOBILE SHOWROOMS, TOWER ATTACKED IN SRINAGAR

July 24: Grenade blasts ripped through the showrooms of two telecom companies and a mobile-phone tower here on Friday, injuring a man. 
Witnesses said the attackers ordered out everyone from the Aircel and Vodafone showrooms at Karan Nagar, just 300 metres from the zonal police headquarters, and lobbed a grenade inside around 11.30 a.m. In the afternoon, a grenade was hurled at the tower at nearby Shaheed Gunj. 
“A pedestrian, Mohammad Faheem from Bihar, was wounded when unidentified militants threw a grenade at the tower,” police spokesperson Manoj Pandita said. 
The police started a search soon, but were unable to arrest anyone. No militant group has so far taken responsibility for the blasts. 
The attacks have come a day after Hizbul Mujahideen expelled it's top commander Abdul Quyoom Najar for involvement in a similar attack six weeks ago and for killing six people. 
“The report submitted by the inquiry commission has proved that Qayoom Najar, in utter disregard of the Hizb leadership, violated the constitution of the outfit and carried out condemnable acts which our constitution does not allow or permit,” the organisation said. “Such anti-people activities always prove counterproductive to the freedom movement and advertently or inadvertently, such acts help the anti-movement elements.”

AMNESTY INTERNATIONAL RELEASES REPORT ON HUMAN RIGHTS VIOLATIONS IN J&K

July 01: The international human rights watchdog, Amnesty International, has called for revoking of AFSPA and investigations into the human rights violations in J&K by an “independent and impartial” authority.
Seeking removal of all “requirements of sanction or prior permission” to prosecute security force personnel, Amnesty International has identified “impunity” and “lack of political will” as a long standing problem in J-K.
The demands have been made in the report ‘Denied – Failures in accountability for human rights violations by security force personnel in Jammu and Kashmir’ that was released on Wednesday.
 (
INDIA USES AFSPA TO AVOID HOLDING FORCES ACCOUNTABLE FOR HUMAN RIGHTS ABUSES: US STATE DEPT
July 07
: Indian authorities used Armed Forces Special Powers Act (AFSPA) to avoid holding its security forces accountable for accusations of human rights abuses, according to a report published by the US State Department.
The 72
-page document, released on June 25, said: "There were no official records available of enforcement actions or human rights abuses by security forces under the AFSPA during the year. "
The US report said that AFSPA remained in effect in Indian states of Nagaland, Manipur, Assam, and parts of Tripura, and a version of the law was in effect in Jammu and Kashmir.
Elaborating about the law, the US report said that under the AFSPA, upon a central government declaration of a state or union territory as a “disturbed area,” security forces are permitted to use deadly force to “maintain law and order” and arrest any person “against whom reasonable suspicion exists” without informing the detainee of the grounds for arrest.
"The law also provides security forces immunity from civilian prosecution for acts committed in regions under the AFSPA," the State Department noted in its ‘Executive Summary’ of ‘India 2014 Human Rights Report’.
)“Impunity is a long-standing problem in Jammu and Kashmir,” the report reads. “The lack of political will to account for past and present actions of the security forces, including the state police, is fortified by legislation and aggravated by other obstacles to justice, especially for those who lack financial resources or education.”
The human rights watchdog has asked the government for an independent and impartial probe into all human rights violations in the state – a demand often made by the separatists.
“Both the Government of India and the Government of Jammu and Kashmir must take immediate steps to ensure that all human rights violations and crimes under international law alleged to have been committed by Indian security forces, including the police, in Jammu and Kashmir are investigated by independent and impartial authorities,” the report recommends. “And where there is sufficient admissible evidence, those accused (should be) prosecuted in proceedings which meet international fair trial standards and do not impose the death penalty”.
Calling the Armed Forces Special Powers Act (AFSPA) as one of the “primary facilitators of impunity” for security forces, the report has demanded its repealing.
“One of the primary facilitators of impunity for security force personnel has been the existence of provisions like Section 7 of the Armed Forces Special Act (AFSPA), 1990 under which members of the security forces are protected from prosecution for alleged human rights violations,” the report says. “Remove all requirements of sanction or any prior executive permission for the prosecution of security force personnel from all relevant legislation including the Armed Forces Special Powers Act and the Code of Criminal Procedure”.
The 72-page report documents the “obstacles to justice for victims of human rights violations” and highlights how the government’s response to reports of human rights violations has “failed to deliver justice” for several victims and families.
Describing that the victims of human rights violations and their families in J-K face “intimidation and threats from security forces” if they try to bring cases against the soldiers, the Amnesty report says that not a single security force personnel has been prosecuted in a civilian court.
The report has urged New Delhi to become signatory of international conventions on human rights and asked the Centre to “accept and facilitate” a request from the Working Group on Enforced or Involuntary Disappearance to visit India.
Citing many instances where their RTI applications failed to get a response, Amnesty has called for making the information about the cases pertaining to human rights violations in J-K public.
“Make information pertaining to the proceedings, verdicts and sentences of courts-martial and security force courts publicly accessible including through the Right to Information Act, 2005 and by other means including an online database,” the report recommends.
The report has also sought amendments in the legislations to limit the jurisdiction of military courts. It admits that to address the issue of impunity is a “challenge” but says is essential to ensure justice.

MUZAMIL’S RELEASE IGNITES HOPES OF ANOTHER JAILED KU STUDENT’S PARENTS

July 07: The release of Muzamil Farooq Dar, a Kashmir University student who was arrested last month on charges of suspected links to militants, has given hope to the parents of another incarcerated student of the varsity, Mohammad Rafiq Shah.
 	Shah, a resident of Alasteng in Ganderbal, was a final year MA student of Islamic studies in the university when he was picked up from his home by the Delhi Police in November 2005 on charges of carrying out blasts in Delhi on the eve of Diwali on October 29, 2005. His case is listed for hearing this month.
 	While Dar was released in the backdrop of a relentless protest campaign by students of the varsity, Shah had no such luck.
 	Shah was arrested in the dead of night from his home. “It was a dark night when the forces raided our house. They climbed the wall and got in. I thought it was a crackdown. Everyone was asleep,” recounts his father Mohammad Yasin, who is a retired government employee.
 	After asking a few preliminary questions, all the residents of the house were asked to file outside and that is when the forces snatched Shah after having physically beaten him in front of his old parents and two younger sisters.
Shah’s mother, Mehmooda Akhter, claims she too was beaten up when she held on to her son amid his protestations of innocence. She was beaten on her head by rifle butts due to which she fell to the ground and her son was taken away.
 	Thus began the harrowing ordeal of Shah’s family which continues to the present day, a decade after he was forcefully taken away from his home without a charge or warrant.
 He was kept at an undisclosed interrogation center and his parents found out he was lodged in Delhi’s Tihar jail two months after being taken away.
Kashmir University’s then Vice Chancellor Abdul Wahid Qureshi attested to Shah’s presence in the university on the day of the blast.
 	Prof. Riyaz Punjabi, his successor, although initially reluctant to help, provided the beleaguered parents with proof of Shah’s attendance after acknowledging that “he was a brilliant student.” “Those who had carried out the blasts in 2005 are in prison now. However, my son is not being released because they (police) fear that his release will backfire and questions will be raised against them,” Shah’s father claims.
 	Even though Shah’s teachers and University authorities could attest to his presence in the University on 29 October 2005, no one has come forward to testify for him in court. The University seems to have washed their hands off the matter and even the attendance sheet for that day was acquired by Shah’s father after much pleading and cajoling.
 	Affidavits tendered to the court by local villagers and Shah’s narco-test reveal he had no hand in the Govindpuri blast and was in Kashmir on that day. But to save face over his arbitrary arrest and detention and to force out a confession from him, Rafiq was “severely tortured in detention.”
 Rafiq was arrested three days before he had to appear for the last exam of his MA final year. His father haggled with the university for four years and on March 1, 2010 Rafiq was brought from Tihar to Central Jail in Kashmir to write his final paper. “He secured first division results,” Muhammad Yasin says proudly.
 	Shah’s future plans include doing a PhD. He applied for the same while in prison but was asked to submit Rs 15,000 to jail authorities which he could not afford.
 	Muhammad Yasin goes to meet his son in Tihar once a year. Being without a job, he does not have sufficient finances to visit as often as he would like to. He got his two daughters married and is paying for court expenses of his son’s case out of his meagre pension.
 	Shah’s letters from jail to his parents and their conversations with him during visits reveal the extent of torture Rafiq has to undergo. Severe beatings are routine. He was allegedly forced to drink urine and suck private parts of fellow inmates. A “pig was kept in his jail cell” to wound his religious sentiments.
“They couldn’t get hold of the real culprits so they caught Kashmiris and produced them before Indians as bombers to calm outrage,” Muhammad Yasin claims.

SOLDIERS ‘THRASH’ RESIDENTS IN BANDIPORA, SEVERAL INJURED

July 3: Protests erupted in north Kashmir’s Bandipora district against the alleged high-handedness of Army personnel. People in Takiya village of Saderkoot area of the district alleged that Army personnel from the nearby Ajas camp resorted to unprovoked harassment and thrashed residents after barging into their houses in wee hours.
The protesters blocked Srinagar-Bandipora road at Takiya demanding action against the personnel involved in the incident.
“Without any provocation, the Army men from Ajas cantonment barged into residential houses and beat up inmates, including women and elders,” said Mehraj-Ud-Din Dar, brother of seriously injured Zahoor Ahmad Dar of Takiya Saderkoot.
“They also ransacked everything in our home and even didn’t spare my old father and women in our home,” Mehraj added. “The men fled from the spot after residents raised an alarm.”
A local resident, Zahoor Ahmad, said that Army men barged into the houses and started asked questions about a religious function organized by Saut-ul-Haq, an Islamic organization, last evening.
“They were livid, and started beating people after asking why such a religious function was held at the Takiya Masjid here,” he said.
“I was dragged from my house to the road. As they tried to bundle me in a vehicle, people from the whole village came out for my rescue. Seeing the crowd, Army men ran away,” said another local, Javed Ahmad.
As the protests continued today, heavy contingents of police arrived at the scene.
SHO Sumbal, Mehboob Banday, told media that they are investigating the case; however DSP Sumbal, Rashid Akbar, said that it was just “a misunderstanding between locals and Army.”
“The case has been settled now. The incident doesn’t need to be given publicity,” he told this reporter.
Army, however, refuted the allegations saying that none of their men were involved in the incident.
“We are not involved in the act. This is just an allegation,” said Army Spokesperson of 13 RR.
“This is allegation and nothing else. They want to defame army in the area,” a spokesperson of army camp in Saderkoot said.
Commanding Officer, 13 RR Mansbal, Manoj Chaturvedi said that he doesn’t have any information regarding the incident.
The protests continued till late evening, however the people were later pacified on assurances by Additional DC Bandipora, SDM Sumbal and DSP Sumbal that action would be taken against accused Army men.

2010 KILLINGS: GOVT GRANTS EX-GRATIA TO FAMILIES OF 7 YOUTH
FAMILIES REJECT BLOOD MONEY, DEMAND PUNISHMENT FOR KILLERS

July 08: The government has granted ex-gratia relief to families of seven youth killed during the 2010 summer uprising but they have rejected the offer saying they want killers punished not blood money.
The Home department passed an order granting ex-gratia relief to the Next of Kins (NoKs) or families of the youth killed by police, troops and paramilitary forces during the summer unrest of 2010.
The Home ministry, whose portfolio is held by Chief Minister Mufti Muhammad Sayeed, took cognizance of the Jammu and Kashmir High Court judgement dated February 2, 2015 passed in OWP (PIL) No 19/2011, IA No. 22/2011 titled Imtiyaz Ahmad Sofi versus State of J&K and others, and Ministry of Home Affairs, Government of India order No 13012/52/2010.
A total of 128 people, mostly children and youth were killed in 2010 summer uprising by police, troops and paramilitary forces.
“In compliance with the High Court of J&K judgment dated February 2, 2015 passed in OWP (PIL) No 1912011, IA No 2212011 titled Imtiyaz Ahmad Sofi versus State of J&K and others, sanction is accorded to the grant of special ex-gratia of an amount of Rs 5 lakh each in favour of the Next of Kins or families of the seven deceased persons,” the order of the Home department stated.
The seven families that the government has granted ex-gratia relief are of Manzoor Ahmad Sofi son of Muhammad Ramzan Sofi of Yakhmanpra Pattan, Baramulla; Wamik Farooq son of Farooq Ahmad Wani of Rainawari Srinagar; Zahid Farooq son of Farooq Ahmad Sheikh of Sheikh Mohalla, Brain, Nishat, Srinagar; Zubair Ahmad Bhat son of Ghulam Hassan of Zami Qadeem, Sopore, Baramulla; Mehraj-ud-Din Lone son of Muhammad Maqbool Lone of Barthana, Srinagar; Mudasir Ahmad Kana son of Bashir Ahmad of Khushal Matoo, Sopore, Baramulla and Bashir Ahmad Bhat son of Ghulam Nabi Bhat of Kadipora Anantnag.
However, the families of deceased youth have turned down the government’s offer stating that they did not want blood money but punishment for the killers.
Talking to media, Farooq Ahmad Wani, father of Wamiq Farooq said they had been pursuing the case for the past five years and wanted punishment for the killers.
“We are not after money, we want the killers of our son punished,” he said. “We want the killers be presented in the court before us.”
He said the government had in the past too offered them ex-gratia relief but they had declined.
“The then DC Mehraj Ahmad Kakroo offered me Rs 5 lakh as compensation but told me to withdraw the case first, which I declined,” Wani said. “I declined it then and I will decline it in future until they do not punish the killers of my son.”
Wani said Wamiq wanted to become a judge, a pilot or a scientist but the State had cut short his life.
Wamiq was killed on January 31, 2010 by police which had later come up with an FIR accusing the slain Wamiq of being a 12-year-old “miscreant trying to kill a policeman”.
However, the inquiry ordered into Wamiq’s killing had concluded that the accused Assistant Sub Inspector, Abdul Khaliq had “fired a tear smoke canister at Wamiq without any provocation committing an offence punishable under the Ranbir Penal Code”.
Farooq Ahmad Sheikh, the father of Zahid Farooq said a court martial inquiry had been ordered into the killing of his son and the case was also pending with the State Human Rights Commission (SHRC).
He also declined to accept the government offer until the government did not punish his son’s killers.
“We will not accept the blood money of our son, we want punishment to the killers,” they said.
16-year-old Zahid Farooq was killed on February 5, 2010 by BSF men, evoking massive protests across Kashmir.
Under pressure, the then Omar Abdullah-led government had taken up his killing with then Home Minister P Chidambaram on whose intervention paramilitary BSF had admitted having killed Zahid.

20 CITY YOUTHS HELD FOR STONE THROWING

July 5:About 20 youths have been arrested on charges of stone throwing by the police in the past two days during a massive search-and-arrest operation in parts of old Srinagar.
Residents of Nowhatta and surrounding areas, the hub of pro-freedom protests, said police raided homes of those who had participated in protest demonstrations in the past one month.
 “During raids they harassed the families of the youth, many of whom have gone into hiding,” said Altaf Ahmad, a resident of Gojwara.
Khanyar sub-divisional police officer Aijaz Ahmad said 16 people have been arrested on charges of stone throwing.
“They are all wanted stone pelters. We have recently identified them from pictures and videos before making their arrests. We have all the proofs of their crime,” Ahmad said.
Another senior official said more arrests would be made in the coming days.
The move has come in the backdrop of the ruling People Democratic Party’s (PDP) pre-election campaign promise that cases against thousands of youth booked for stone throwing would be withdrawn if they vote for the party and if it forms the government.
The PDP had then claimed that there were about 5,000 FIRs (First Information Reports) against stone throwers and protesters while describing them as the “unfortunate victims of the Omar Abdullah government”.
Its partner in the coalition government, BJP, had accused the police of running an extortion racket in the name of fighting stone throwers, saying that in return for the release of boys accused of stone throwing, the police take huge amounts of money from their parents.
PDP general secretary Rafi Mir said that if police has picked up boys, they should “deal with them compassionately”.
“We have promised with the people that we would deal with cases of such nature delicately. PDP will take up the issue with the government,” he said.

180 ‘FUTILE’ HR VIOLATION PROBES ORDERED FROM 2003-2015 IN KASHMIR: REPORT

July 14: On November 2, 2002, one year and four months of Mufti government, “JAK Rifles had taken five civilians from the locality and killed them in nearby woods in north Kashmir’s Bandipora district,” reads an official document on probes compiled by the State government. 
The incident took place just sixteen months after Mufti Muhammad Sayeed took over as Chief Minister of the state. A day after five civilians were first taken “forcibly by the army and subsequently used as human shield” CM ordered a probe into the killing.
	The civilians were innocent and were identified as — Mohammad Yaqoob, Mohammad Aslam Mir, Farooq Ahmed, Sakhi Mohammad and Ghulam Jeelani.
The probe report had no doubt found army men guilty for killing the civilians.
However, Army had denied they had used the five men as human shields even after the probe revealed the truth.
The army maintained that the civilians were working for the army as porters — a common practice in Kashmir, where the army uses hardy Gujjar civilians as guides and as coolies to cart its supplies to higher reaches.
The army claimed to have punished the guilty, however the nature of punishment and number of soldiers punished was never revealed and the case stands closed.
Sources in Ministry of Home Affairs (MHA) said a report was sent by an intelligence agency to the MHA in New Delhi which reveals Aslam Mir and four other residents of Chithee Bande Bandipora were given bulletproof vests and were told to go and “clear the rubble”.
At this time army had already lost its three soldiers by slipping into a foxhole of militants.
They knew operation was not over but they still violated the SOP and sent the civilians into the death hole. The families of the deceased never knew what happened to the murderers of their loved ones.
“They killed them, government ordered probe, guilty were caught but who knows what punishment was given and to whom. Who knows what happened to the case further,” the family members said.
These five civilians are among those people who have been killed among hundreds of Kashmiris and their case is among hundreds of probes ordered in Kashmir with the result either undeclared or the final reports did not lead to indictment of the guilty.
Ironically the state government has ordered 180 probes into the human rights violations carried out by the armed forces during the past 13 years till 2015 with majority of them having proved futile.
Data compiled by the State government reveals that 180 probes have been ordered since 2003 to 2015, the nature of killings includes custodial killings, firing on civilians, gang rapes, fake encounters, massacres by forces.
South Asia Director at Human Rights Watch Meenakshi Ganguly while speaking to media said ordering probes is only the first step towards ensuring justice for human right violations.
“If there is no accountability that follows, then not only are families left without real answers, but there is also a culture of impunity where security forces have no deterrence,” she said.
Commenting on the repeal of controversial Armed Force Special Power Act, she said: “Part of the reason that we ask for the repeal of AFSPA is because there is no transparent accountability mechanism. It appears to get stalled because sanction to prosecute is seldom granted and internal court procedures are not made public.”
“AFSPA should be repealed so that soldiers who commit serious crimes against civilians face trial in civilian courts and can no longer be protected from prosecution,” she added.
Again, during Mufti Sayeed government in Jammu and Kashmir, barely two months after he was sworn in as CM, on March, 1, 2015, on the heavily guarded roads of the Valley near Narbal, Suhail Ahmed Sofi (19), was leaving to check whether his school was off or not, when he was fired upon by forces, killing him on the spot.
Suhail was innocent, the investigation had revealed. He was not involved in any of the mischievous activities nor did he provoke forces to open fire. Just because he was there on the road to get easily targeted, security men killed him on the spot.
The probe report reveals “Suhail was killed in a cold blood murder even when the situation there was not so alarming.”
Mufti sought an enquiry, and again undoubtly the police men on duty were found guilty after the probe. However, not surprisingly, the file has been left to eat dust in the office and guilty are roaming free on bail as no punishment has been announced for them.
Ajaz Ahmed brother says justice in the case report has been submitted to the government by inquiry officer, but “his brother’s killers are still roaming free.”
SP Budgam Farooq Ahmed Lone while confirming their release said: “They have sought bail on their own level so they are free on bail.”
Meanwhile, the report of probes also reveals that the trend of ordering probes into incidents of violence has remained max during Mufti Mohammad Syed-led PDP-Congress coalition government in 2003, 2004, and 2005.
It shows in 2003, 33 probes were ordered, 46 probes were ordered during 2004 and 2005 which included gang rapes and civilian killings by army men. However, the report mentions a few cases (barely two to five) that were killed in 2008 and 2010.
Commenting on the issue, Government spokesperson Naeem Akthar said the issue is serious for the government.
“Our government has solved all the cases where we could see the brazen use of force, where there has been loss of life as has been in Narbal killing. Although we did not take the probe route, we just got the persons arrested and registered cases against them. For us cosmetics have no value,” he said.
Former Jammu and Kashmir Chief Minister Omar Abdullah recently made a fresh demand for establishing a truth and reconciliation commission in the State for addressing the issues related to both Kashmiri Pandits and Muslims affected by over two-decade-long violence.
In March 2011, Abdullah as Chief Minister had suggested setting up of a TRC in the pattern of South Africa’s TRC to probe the deaths and destructions in militancy-related violence in Jammu and Kashmir, though his suggestion never saw the light of the day. Ridiculing Abdullah’s demand for TRC, Akthar said that Omar Abdullah used to tell court “Kashmiris deserve to be killed.”
“The people of Kashmir deserve to die, this is what NC government use to tell court,” he said.
Asked about the probes which have proved as a futile exercise, he said PDP government will look into all probes that have remained inconclusive in past years. “We will get them sped up.”
Talking to media, Head of the Department Political Science University of Kashmir, Ravendrajeet Kaur said that government should not come under any kind of pressure while dealing with the probes and punishments thereof.
“Being a political analyst, I strongly believe that the government should not come under pressure while dealing with the probes. In addition civil society’s role is indeed vital,” she said.
It appears that after probing is complete; the report files are sent to Home department just for piling up, as many probe reports have fetched no result even after the completion of the inquires.
Principal Secretary to government R K Goyal said, he will have to check in the office. “I need to check with the office first, till then I can’t comment on it,” he said.
Media tried to contact Goyal after a day, but he didn’t respond to repeated calls.

ARMY STOPPED US FROM OFFERING NIGHT PRAYERS: KHADNIYAR RESIDENTS

July 5: The army did not allow residents of Khadniyar village in Baramulla to offer the night prayers at Masjid Qadeem, a local mosque.
Local residents told media that the soldiers, who apparently had to conduct a search operation, made them stand outside their homes for hours but did not allow them to offer the prayers.
“It is for the first time since 2000 that the army stopped us from praying in this mosque,” said Abdul Rashid Hajam (name changed on request), a local resident.
A senior police officer said that they had no information about the incident as no resident reported it to the police.
In the month of Ramazan, army and police have intensified search operation in north Kashmir. On July 3, both army and police had conducted door-to-door search operations in Chijhama in Rafiabad and Rawatpora and Delina in Baramulla.

ARMY ‘ENCROACHES UPON’ INDUSTRIAL LAND IN RANGRETH

July 2: Minister for Roads and Buildings, Syed Altaf Bukhari, expressed serious resentment over the alleged illegal occupation of SIDCO land by Army at Industrial Electronic Complex Rangreth.
Bukhari, accompanied by Minister for Industries and Commerce, Chander Prakash, were surprised to find “unauthorized fencing erected by the Army” on industrial land during their visit to the estate.
“It is not an Indo-Pak border that they (Army) would erect barbed wire fences,” Bukhari said while directing officials to take immediate steps to retrieve the industrial land from the Army.
“This is the prime industrial land and Army cannot occupy it,” he told the officers on the occasion.
Minister for Industries and Commerce, Chander Prakash, asked the estates officer to come up with details of the land so that appropriate steps are taken to retrieve the land.
“I will take up the matter with the concerned quarters,” he said adding that the issue needs to be resolved on priority basis.
The ministers were accompanied by Financial Commissioner Industries and Commerce, Khurshid Ganai, Managing Director SIDCO, Kiyafat Rizvi, General Manager, Aga Ajaz, and other officials from Industries department.
The officials informed the ministers that Army has occupied 31 Kanals of prime land in the estate illegally.
“Last month they erected wire fencing claiming the land as their property which is not the case,” senior officials of the SIDCO informed the ministers.
The officials stated that SIDCO officials asked the Army to vacate their land several times but they didn’t pay any heed.
“On one side we are facing acute shortage of land and on the other side Army is illegally occupying our prime industrial land in the premier industrial estate of Kashmir,” officials said. They urged the ministers to initiate immediate action in the matter.
The state administration has already served a notice to the Army, but they have not even acknowledged the notice and the paper is still hanging on the fence, an official said.
The notice issued by Deputy Commissioner Budgam to the Defence Estates Officer reads: Unauthorized construction of wall on SIDCO land by the Army. This office received a communication No. SIDCO/04/207 dated 01.06.2015 from Managing Director SIDCO regarding the subject captioned above. In this context I am directed to request you to stop the erection of angle iron posts and also restrain from encroaching upon the SIDCO land till the instant issue is settled amicably. Matter is urgent and merits top priority.”

PULWAMA YOUTH INTERROGATED OVER HIZB VIDEO

July 16: The police have rounded up and questioned many people in Pulwama district over a video showing a group of young Hizbul Mujahideen militants playing and practicing arms apparently in an orchard.
Two people, including a reporter with a local daily, were questioned by the police today over the 80-second video showing Hizb’s divisional commander Burhaan Ahmad Wani and his associates cracking jokes with each other, even as some of them were busy in listening to inspirational songs of Jehad, a police officer told media, wishing anonymity as he is not authorised to speak to the media.
 	The reporter, hailing from Pulwama, was summoned to the police station Pulama and later shifted to Srinagar’s Rajbagh police station, where he was subjected to questioning over the origin of the video. The reporter was released after his phone was scanned by the cops.
 	Another youth, Ajaz Ahmad Sheikh, was picked up by a team of the police’s feared counter insurgency wing, Special Operations Group (SOG), from Rahmoo Pulwama and subjected to intense questioning.
 	Official sources said that many more youth are likely to be questioned to find those who have uploaded the video.
 	The video initially surfaced on messaging application ‘Whatsapp’ and later it went viral on the popular social networking websites Facebook and Twitter. Ex-cop, Naseer Ahmad Pandith, who fled with two AK-rifles from the house of a senior PDP minister to join militants, also figures in the video that has created ripples among the security establishment.
 	The questioning of youth from Pulwama comes two days after Kashmir inspector general of police SJM Gilani told a Srinagar-based news agency that investigations have been stepped up to ascertain the origin of this video.
“We will probe how, when and where it was uploaded on internet,” Gilani had said.

RSS PREPARES GROUND FOR SAFFRONIZATION OF JAMMU
‘VHP GIVES ARMS TRAINING IN EDUCATIONAL INSTITUTES, SHAKHAS BEING ORGANIZED IN JU’ 
 
July 8: Jammu has become a breeding ground for Rashtriya Swayamsevak Sangh (RSS) and other rightwing organizations with Vishva Hindu Parishad (VHP) providing arms training to the youth, including women, in educational institutions and organizing ‘shakhas’ in the campus of University of Jammu with no restriction from the administration.
Such activities have increased sense of insecurity among the minority community.
Recently, the government allowed ‘dangal’ (wrestling) on a Muslim graveyard even as it had assured that such activities would not be allowed on the Aquaf Islamia’s land in Bagh Jogian village of Bishnah.
Under the shadow of self-defense, training is imparted to the women in a school Diwan Badri Nath High School in Talab Tillo.
As per its statement, VHP provided training to at least 78 women belonging to various districts of Jammu division including Rajouri, Poonch, Sunderbani and other areas.
In this week-long programme, which started from July 1 and concluded today, VHP provided arms training (rifle shooting), use of baton (lath bazi), martial arts etc to the young girls in the school premises.
Few weeks back, similar function was organized in Akhnoor, where young boys were imparted arms training and it was given due publicity to attract more youth to join RSS.
Interestingly, Jammu University where students from all the districts come for studies, RSS has started its ‘shakha’ during evening hours near Boys Hostel’s ground.
“These activities have increased silently in the campus. We don’t know why the administration has kept mum. Not only students, but people from outside came in the evening to participate in the shakas,” said a student, wishing anonymity.
Pursing his Post Graduation course in JU, the youth hailing from Poonch said they have lived in peace and unity with other community. “I have never seen such ‘shakhas’ in any other educational institution which I feel create wedge among the communities. The authorities should not allow such activities within the premises,” said Mohammed Rizwan (name changed).
One of the active student leaders in the University of Jammu, wishing anonymity, said he was shocked to see the administration turning blind eye to such activities.
“We don’t support such activities even as I belong to majority community. Such things have started soon after the formation of coalition government with BJP in Jammu and Kashmir. So we have lost our voice,” said the former student of the campus. 
“The university administration, from top to bottom, is silent even as they know about it. They have permitted them (RSS) to organize the shakhas. No one dares to question such activities fearing the threat posed by Sangh Parivar.”
“Once we had approached the administration with a complaint about the shakhas. They did nothing and instead claimed that no shakhas are being organized here. It was a lie,” he recalled.
“Everyone who passes though the Gymnasium Ground in the evening hours knows what is going on there and who are these people?” 
Dean Students Welfare, Jammu University, Pankaj Shrivastav, told media: “Earlier too, we had a complaint about shakhas being organized in Jammu University. We had checked it but the complaint was not true. On resuming duty, I will again get it checked again.”
Director Physical Education, University of Jammu, Dhain Singh Bhau said: “I have never seen it. We have permitted only yoga classes and no shakhas are being organized in the university.”
“We don’t have any information about shakhas being organized in the University of Jammu. I will collect factual report and then, reply you back,” PRO Jammu University, Vinay Thussu, told media.
Repeated calls were made to Vice Chancellor of Jammu University, Prof RD Sharma and Registrar, University of Jammu, Keshav Sharma for their statements but they were not available.
Similarly, Deputy Commissioner, Jammu, Simrandeep Singh and Divisional Commissioner, Jammu, Pawan Kotwal did not respond to repeated calls.  
RSS LEADERS TO VISIT JAMMU
Senior RSS functionaries including Krishna Gopal, who is coordinating between RSS and BJP in India, Suresh Joshi also known as Bhaiyyaji Joshi, and Dattatreya Hosable, are scheduled to visit Jammu.
Sources said these RSS leaders would hold meetings with BJP Ministers and RSS leaders of the State to review the programmes being organized by the Sangh Parivar in Jammu division especially.
Though these leaders would also review the progress of the Government in Jammu and Kashmir, sources said, they would hold meetings to know about the activities of the RSS and other saffron organisations. These RSS leaders would visit Jammu from July 14 to July 16. During their stay, sources said, they would hold series of closed door meetings.
“RSS has attracted thousands of youths who have joined the organisation especially in Jammu division. We are not only providing sense of security to the samaj (community) but are active in many social activities. People are impressed with the work of the sangh Parihar,” a senior saffron leader told media.
He informed that RSS had adopted some flood-hit areas of Jammu and its progress would also be reviewed.

FORCES CLAIM ARREST OF ACCUSED IN PAK UNDERTRAIL MILITANT’S KILLING
HEAVY EXCHANGE OF GUNFIRE BETWEEN PAK RANGERS AND INDIAN ARMY IN MACHIL

July 29: Government forces on Wednesday claimed to have arrested a Lashkar-e-Taiba (LeT) militant who they say is the main accused in last month’s bomb blast in a police vehicle, which killed Waheed Noor Khan, an undertrial PaK militant, and a policeman.
 A joint team of army and police reportedly apprehended Ubaid Tariq Untoo alias Faris, a resident of Kralteng, at a check post near Channa-Khan area of Sopore, officials said. They claimed the check post had been set up on the basis of specific intelligence and that a Chinese pistol and three live bullets were recovered from Untoo. An FIR has been registered and Untoo has been handed over to the police, they said.
 Meanwhile, there were reports of heavy exchange of gunfire between Pakistani and Indian forces in Machil sector of north Kashmir’s Kupwara district on Wednesday.
 The exchange between the Pakistan Rangers and the army’s 5 Kumaon regiment started around 11:30 am and continued for one hour, a senior police official told news agencies. During the clash, light mortar shells were also apparently used.
“No reports of injury to any soldier on this side have been reported,” the Indian official said.

SOLDIER, VDC MAN HELD FOR SHOOTING INCIDENT IN RAJOURI

July 30: A soldier and a Village Defence Committee (VDC) member have been arrested for firing shots, triggering panic and terror among people in Rajouri district of Jammu and Kashmir.
 Territorial Army soldier Liyaqat Ali and VDC member Tariq were arrested for firing and creating the resultant panic among people in Targie area of Kotranka belt of the district on Wednesday night, Darhal police station SHO Kuldeep Raj said on Thursday.
 	On their part, the duo told police that they had fired because of “suspicious movement of two armed persons”, but when the army and police conducted search operations in the area nothing suspicious was found. The weapons of the duo have been seized and a case registered against them, Raj said.
 	Meanwhile, an Indian soldier has reportedly died in an exchange of fire between the armies of India and Pakistan in Poonch. The soldier was killed after Pakistani troops allegedly violated the ceasefire and targeted Indian posts early on Thursday morning. However, other reports quoting defence sources said that the soldier, whose identity was not yet ascertained, was killed due to sniper fire from the Pakistani side.

STATED OFFICIALLY
· 
· AFSPA TO BE REVOKED WHEN SITUATION IS CONDUCIVE: RAJNATH
July 2: The controversial Armed Forces Special Powers Act will be revoked in Jammu and Kashmir when the situation is conducive, Union Home Minister Rajnath Singh said.
"I want to say that the situation should be such, and I pray to Almighty, that AFSPA should not be needed anywhere in the country. We will need cooperation of one and all to achieve this goal," Singh told reporters in Srinagar.
· 13, 904 CIVILIANS KILLED IN KASHMIR FROM 1989 TO 2014: MHA REPORT 
NO MASSACRE FINDS A MENTION; 2014 WITNESSED 30% INCREASE IN CIVILIAN CASUALTIES 
July 5: A total of 13, 904 civilians have been killed in Kashmir valley since the onset of militancy till the year 2014, the statistics maintained by Ministry of Home Affairs (MHA) reveal. 
MHA data reveals that 13,904 civilians and 4922 forces personnel have lost their lives during the period of 1990 up to 2014.
The annual report maintained by MHA states that the year 2014 has witnessed a 30.58 percent increase in the number of casualties of civilians in comparison to the year 2013.
“The year 2014 witnessed a 30.58% increase in the number of casualties of civilians and 86.66% increase in number of militancy incidents in comparison to the year 2013,” the report reveals.
The government has collated the figures of civilians killed since 1990: it lists only 13,904 innocent civilians. The numbers vary from a high of 1031 civilians killed in 1995 to 1008 killed in 2002.
The number of killings may include all the massacres such as Sopore massacre in which 55 civilians were massacred allegedly by security forces, 51 people were massacred by the CRPF in just one incident when it fired at a crowd of protesters on a bridge at Gaw Kadal in Downtown, Srinagar. However there is no mention of such massacres in the report.
The report even does not mention about the 120 civilians who were killed in the summer of 2010. It has mentioned only 47 civilians killed in the year. According to the Union Home Ministry, year 2010 in Jammu and Kashmir witnessed 488 violent incidents in which 69 forces personnel were killed while 232 militants were also gunned down during the year.
· GOVERNMENT READIES RS 2,000 CRORE REHABILITATION PACKAGE FOR KASHMIRI PANDITS
July 15: A Rs 2,000 crore rehabilitation package for the Kashmiri Pandits is being readied by the Home Ministry under which 3,000 government jobs and 6,000 new flats would be offered to the displaced community.
A note is being prepared for the approval of the Union Cabinet for the Rs 2,000 crore package for the return and rehabilitation of Kashmiri Pandits, who had to leave their homeland following rise of militancy in late 1980s, in Kashmir valley, a government official said.
Under the proposal, 3,000 government jobs will be provided to educated youths of the community and 6,000 new flats will be offered as transit accommodation along with a longterm plan of constructing two-three composite townships in the Valley.
The Jammu and Kashmir government has already assured to provide land for the proposed flats. These jobs will be in addition to the 3,000 jobs already offered to the Pandits under the previous UPA government's 2004 package of Rs 1,618 crore and 5,242 two-room tenements constructed in Jammu and allotted to the migrants.

The new flats to be built in the Valley will not be on twin-sharing basis as earlier so as to enable migrants to move back with their families.
The Home Ministry is also working on a Phase-II plan which involves permanent rehabilitation of Pandits in two-three composite townships of 2,500 families each to be built near Srinagar and Anantnag.
Currently, there is a small transit accommodation of 200 flats in Sheikhpura, Budgam in the Valley.
· NO BORDER INFILTRATION IN JK THIS YEAR: ARMY 
July 20: Jammu and Kashmir's top Army commander Monday said no cross-border infiltration took place this year in the state but flagged South Kashmir region as a cause of concern for the security setup.
"As per an assessment, which is done by all intelligence agencies, there are figures of last three years 2012—2015 about successfully infiltrated (militants). As many as 97 people infiltrated in 2013 followed by 65 in 2014," General Officer Commanding In Chief (GoC-In-C), Northern Command, Lt Gen D S Hooda said.
"As per our assessment is concerned, nobody has successfully infiltrated from across (the border) this year," Lt Gen Hooda told PTI in an interview here. 
He, however, said most of these infiltration bids are actually taking place in Kashmir region and it is only after the snow melts in July, August, September, October months, when you see a peak in infiltration. 
Lt Gen Hooda said that 100 militants had been killed in 2013 along LoC and the hinterland followed by killing of 150 militants in 2014 and 40 militants this year till now. 
On the security situation in J&K, the Army Commander said: "See there is a bit of concern. I will not say that the situation has gone out of hand...Frankly, if you compare it with what was there in the past and slowly over a period of time, there was a certain amount of stability in the security environment".
"But what we are seeing during past some time, soft targets like Panchs, mobile tower owners, retired police officers etc are targeted, incidents of weapon snatching are taking place. Surely they give us some cause of concern to see that we need to bring the situation back towards normalcy," Lt Gen said.
"I think South Kashmir is a bit of concern for security agencies. I am hopeful that we should be able to control the situation. We have to be dynamic and operational not to be static,” he added.
On the militancy in Kashmir, he said: "We have this in some areas of Kulgam. We do not find it is too much. It is because of local recruitments. We will focus on the areas where there are deep roots of militancy".         
Regarding any change of strategy after formation of the new government in J&K, he said, “We are in constant touch with them (Government) and we had large number of Unified Headquarter (UHQ) meetings, which were headed by the Chief Minister".
"...overall strategy that is being followed is by and large on the right lines. Frankly speaking, no major change is required. Definitely, (we) need to emphasize on Army," he added.
The Army officer said more than the security situation which need to be looked at, radicalization, youth engagement and development need to be addressed more seriously. "There is sense of alienation also. We cannot get away from it," he said.
On the question about Army reaching out to people, he said: "It is reflected in the figures that militancy has gone down. Local support is not there for the militancy... border belts around Kupwara, there is good relation between people and Army".
"We are focusing on areas where alienation is high and militancy is there. We are giving a lot of focus to Tral (South Kashmir). Large number of initiatives are taking place, he added. PTI 
· SOCIAL MEDIA MOTIVATES YOUTH TO PICK UP ARMS: DGP
July 21: Claiming that the lack of employment opportunities, “romanticism” associated with militancy and the social media was playing a key role in motivating Kash¬miri youth to join militant ranks; Director General of Police K Rajendra Tuesday said the appropriate strategy is being adopted to reverse the trend at the earliest. 
He said as part of the reach-out-to-people strategy, J&K police was able to convince about 50 youth, who had joined militancy, to come back. 
“Young boys joining militancy is a cause of concern for us. We are looking into the reasons that motivate youth, both educated and illiterate, to pick up arms,” Rajendra told local newsgathering agency KNS in an exclusive phone-in interview. 
He added: “Apparently it seems lack of proper employment avenues, romanticism associated with militancy and the role social media plays in glorification of militants are some key reasons for our youth joining militancy.” 
The police chief, meanwhile, said that it was not only the issue of educated youth joining militancy, but there are even illiterate people joining militant ranks. 
“But we have been able to bring most of them back to the normal life. Around 40-50 young boys who were lured to militancy have come back, and doing their normal life,” he said. 
Rajendra added that both police and civil administration were taking appropriate measures to seize the trend of young boys getting lured towards militancy. “As part of the strategy, we are reaching out to the parents of the boys who have militancy, motivating and convincing them to bring their wards back. And we are successful in this strategy to a large extent,” he said. 
He added that government too was concerned about the issue, and various political establishments too were reaching people directly in this regard. 
“Recruitments in police and other services are coming up to engage in youth in developmental activities. Besides we have launched social-action programme to engage youth in various recreational and sports activities,” he said. 
“Situation is under control,” he added. 
On infiltration, he said attempts were being made by militants to sneak in. “But forces on borders are vigilant to thwart such attempts,” he said.
1129 CEASEFIRE VIOLATIONS SINCE 2013: PARRIKAR 
July 30: At least 1,129 violations of border ceasefire by the Pakistani troops have taken place since 2013 which has claimed lives of 16 Army men and 15 civilians, Defence Minister Manohar Parrikar said Thursday.
In a written reply to Rajya Sabha, Parrikar said there were 347 ceasefire violations in 2013, which increased to 583 in 2014.
“This year till 30 June, there has been 199 ceasefire violations,” he said.
Parrikar said 10 Army personnel lost their lives in 2013, four of them besides 13 civilians were killed in 2014. 
“This year, till 30 June, two Army personnel and two civilians have been killed,” he said.
He said all violations of ceasefire are taken up with Pakistani military authorities at the appropriate level through established mechanism of hotlines, flag meetings as well as weekly talks between the Directorate Generals of Military Operations of the two countries.
"Diplomatically, India has repeatedly emphasised, including at the highest level, the need for Pakistan to uphold the sanctity of the Line of Control (LoC) and abide by the ceasefire commitment of 2003 along the International Border and LoC," added Parrikar.

SUICIDE
· 
· CRPF TROOPER SUICIDE 
July 22: ACRPF trooper shot himself dead at a camp in Sopore town of north Kashmir. The soldier has been identified LR Thakray, Head Constable, belt no. 941452083) 279 BN. 


	DATE 
	TROOPERS
	MILITANTS
	CIVILIANS
	OTHERS

	July 01
	-
	-
	-
	-

	July 02
	-
	-
	-
	-

	July 03
	1
	1
	-
	-

	July 04
	-
	1
	-
	-

	July 05
	1
	-
	-
	-

	July 06
	-
	-
	-
	-

	July 07
	-
	-
	-
	-

	July 08
	-
	-
	-
	-

	July 09
	2
	0
	1
	

	July 10
	-
	-
	-
	-

	July 11
	-
	-
	-
	-

	July 12
	-
	3
	-
	

	July 13
	-
	-
	-
	-

	July 14
	-
	-
	-
	-

	July 15
	-
	-
	1
	-

	July 16
	-
	-
	-
	-

	July 17
	-
	-
	-
	-

	July 18
	-
	-
	-
	-

	July 19
	-
	-
	-
	-

	July 20
	-
	-
	-
	-

	July 21
	-
	-
	-
	-

	July 22
	1
	-
	-
	-

	July 23
	-
	2
	-
	-

	July 24
	-
	-
	-
	-

	July 25
	-
	-
	1
	-

	July 26
	-
	-
	-
	-

	July 27
	-
	-
	-
	-

	July 28
	-
	-
	-
	-

	July 29
	-
	-
	-
	-

	July 30
	1
	-
	-
	-

	July 31
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Total 
	6
	7
	3
	0

	IN TOTO
	16 KILLINGS 



CHRONOLOGY OF INCIDENTS
July 01: A village Numberdar (village head) was shot dead by unknown gunmen in Pulwama district of south Kashmir. The deceased has been identified as Mohammad Yousuf Bhat, 43, of Wagun, Pulwama.  
July 02: Militants, believed to be three in number, managed to give a slip to the troopers after engaging them in gunfight for sometime in Ratsuna, Tral area of south Kashmir.
July 03: One militant and a soldier were killed in an encounter in Uri sector of Baramulla. The slain militant has not been identified.  In an incident of army highhandedness at Bandipora, several civilians were injured by the soldiers from Ajas Camp without any provocation.  The soldiers, reports said, also ransacked the houses.   
July 04: Another militant was killed in an encounter in Uri sector of Baramulla. The slain militant has not been identified.  
July 05: A BSF trooper was killed in exchange of fire between Indian troopers and Pakistani Rangers in Nowgam Sector in North Kashmir’s Kupwara district.  
July 06: No incident of violence reported. 
July 07: One Indian soldier was injured in cross LOC skirmishes in Poonch district in Jammu province. 
July 08: One army soldier suffered injuries in a gun-battle with militants in Shopian area of south Kashmir. The militants after a brief encounter managed to give slip to the army. 
July 09: A BSF soldier was killed in cross LOC firing in Uri area of Baramulla sector of south Kashmir. In a separate incident, n army soldier dies while a police cop suffered injuries in a militant attack in Shopian area of south Kashmir.  In a different incident, a shepherd lost his life when an explosion device, he was fiddling with, went off at Kargil. The deceased has been identified as Maqsood Ahmad of Rajouri, Jammu.  
July 10: Several persons including a photojournalist, were injured in violent protests that broke out in downtown Srinagar after the police and paramilitary forces stopped a peaceful march demanding release of political prisoners. 
July 11:No incident of violence reported.  
July 12: Three militants, army claimed, were killed in an encounter with them along LOC in Keran Sector of Kupwara district. None of the militant were identified. 
July 13: No incident of violence reported.
July 14: Unknown gunmen shot at and injured a Panch at general Bus Stand Shopian in South Kashmir. The injured has been identified as Mohammad Yaqoob Malla s/o Gh. Ahmad Malla of Pahlipora, Shopian. 
July 15: As many as four grenades were hurled towards a mobile tower in Pattan town of north Kashmir’s Baramulla district. However, no damage was caused. A woman was killed and four others including a BSF trooper got injured in cross LOC shelling in Akhnoor area in Jammu province. The deceased woman was identified as Poli Devi, 42, of Bhalwal Bharth.      
A retired police officer (ASI) was shot dead by gunmen when he was returning home after offering Isha (last) prayer at Ashmuji, district Kulgam. The slain was identified as Bashir Ahmad Dar. One protester was injured and 35 were detained by the police after the nocturnal clashes in Nowhatta area of Srinagar district.  
July 16: No incident of violence reported.
July 17: Clashes between young protesters and CRPF and Police took place in Nowhatta area of Srinagar downtown immediately after Friday prayers. Police used teargas shells to counter the protests.   
July 18: Reports of protest came from some places after the Eid prayers particularly from Srinagar downtown. 
July 19: No incident of violence reported.
July 20: No incident of violence reported. 
July 21: No incident of violence reported.
July 22: ACRPF trooper shot himself dead at a camp in Sopore town of north Kashmir. The soldier has been identified LR Thakray, Head Constable, belt no. 941452083) 279 BN. 
July 23: Two militants were killed and equal number of soldiers suffered injuries during an encounter along LOC  in Tangdar sector of Kupwara district. The militants killed were not identified.
July 24: In three separate grenade attacks by unknown assailants at Karan Nagar, Khanyar and Shaheed Gunj areas of Srinagar targeting the mobile infrastructure two civilians were injured. The attacks triggered panic in entire Srinagar with mobile outlets owners having mushroom presence in Srinagar got unnerved. 
July 25: A civilian died and five persons including a CRPF man suffered injuries in a grenade explosion hurled by unknown assailants in Achabal bus stand in Anantnag district of south Kashmir. The slain person has been identified as Mohammad Jabbar Wagay son of Mohammad Sultan of Batpora, Dialgam.  
July 26: Death of a youth, Owais Ahmad Fafoo alias Patel son of Mohammad Ismaiel of Mandir Bagh, Srinagar in mysterious circumstances triggered protests in Maisuma area with the protesters demanding govt. to demystify the mystery behind the killing, which according to them was a murder.   
July 27: Maisuma, Basant Bagh, Mandirbagh areas and part of Lal Chowk remained shut over the mysterious killing of a youth on July 26. The killing evoked strong condemnation from different pro-freedom groups and the youth engaged the CRPF and police in stone pelting to convey their protest and press the government to probe the death.   
July 28: No incident of violence reported.
July 29: Four civilians and equal number of CRPF personnel were injured in a grenade attack that took place at Khanabal-Pahalgam road in south Kashmir’s Ananatnag district. 
July 30: An army soldier was killed in cross border shelling in Poonch sector of Jammu province. 
July 31Three policemen were injured in an attack by car-borne gunmen at Mujgund on the outskirts of Srinagar.
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